THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

DEC 02 2016

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY

SC Court of Appeals

Court of Common Pleas

Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Judge

Appellate Court Case No. 2015-002618

Patricia Doller.....Respondent,

v.

Lohr Plumbing, Inc.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Stacey P. Canaday (S.C. Bar No. 68805)
Ralph E. Tupper (S.C. Bar No. 5647)
Tupper, Grimsley & Dean, P.A.
611 Bay Street
Post Office Box 2055
Beaufort, SC 29901-2055
Attorneys for Appellant Lohr Plumbing, Inc.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Trial Court Err in Granting a New Trial?
- II. Did the Trial Court Err in Denying Lohr's Motion for Directed Verdict?
- III. Should the 13th Juror doctrine be abolished, or revised?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the trial court's order granting Respondent a new trial pursuant to the 13th juror doctrine after a jury trial of this matter resulted in a verdict for Appellant, Lohr Plumbing, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as "Lohr"). In addition, Lohr appeals the trial court's denial of Lohr's motion for directed verdict. Other parties to this suit included Cathy Lynn Ritchie (hereinafter referred to as "Ritchie"), who retained Lohr to perform plumbing work on the subject residence prior to its sale to the Respondent, and ReMax realty, Ritchie's real estate agent.

The Respondent filed suit against Ritchie, ReMax and Lohr for fraud, negligence, gross negligence, and negligent misrepresentation. Both Ritchie and ReMax settled with the Respondent prior to trial. Shortly before trial of this case, Respondent moved to amend the Complaint and removed the allegations of fraud against Lohr. The trial proceeded upon the two remaining causes of action of negligence and negligent misrepresentation arising out of Lohr's plumbing work that allegedly resulted in a leak causing water damage and mold growth. In addition to property damage, Respondent also claimed personal injuries arising out of the alleged mold growth.

A trial of this matter occurred in Beaufort County September 1-3, 2015. Motions for directed verdict for each party were made at the close of both the Respondent's and Lohr's respective cases, and all motions were denied by the trial judge. A jury returned a verdict in favor of Defendant Lohr on a verdict form that combined the issues of negligence and proximate cause for each of the two causes of action. The verdict form was reviewed and consented to by all parties prior to submission to the jury. Respondent moved for a new trial after the verdict was read, again upon the same grounds for her motion for directed verdict, and the trial judge

permitted additional time for motions to be filed. Arguments upon Respondent's motion for JNOV, 13th Juror, and New Trial Absolute were heard on November 19, 2015 in Beaufort County, and the order granting Respondent's motion for new trial based upon the thirteenth juror doctrine was entered on November 25, 2015. This appeal followed.

FACTS

This is a hybrid personal injury and construction defect claim arising out of a water leak in the Respondent's residence, located at 55 James F. Byrnes Street in Beaufort, SC. The Respondent purchased the subject property from Ritchie on or about November 10, 2010. A home inspection performed prior to the purchase indicated the presence of polybutylene piping, which was required by the Respondent's homeowners insurance company to be removed before it would issue a policy to the Respondent. Ritchie retained Lohr to remove and replace most of the polybutylene piping within the home. However, Ritchie did not want to cut into certain sections of walls in order to replace the old shower valves within the walls. As a result, Lohr was required to leave the old shower valves and approximately three feet of non-pressurized polybutylene pipe in each bathroom; all other polybutylene pipe was removed (R. p. 220, lines 12-25).

After this work was completed, and at the request of a closing attorney, a letter was requested of Lohr to indicate the polybutylene piping had been removed, and one was prepared and signed by Lohr's office manager (R. p. 220, lines 18-25; R. p. 221, lines 1-9; R. p. 226 lines 18-25; R. p. 227, lines 1-10). According to Mr. Doran, these letters are not routinely prepared by Lohr, but only if one is requested (R. p. 224, lines 11-23).

Approximately one year later, on or about November 30, 2011, the Respondent discovered water beneath the wood floor in the master bedroom, and contacted Lohr. Upon

investigation, a Lohr employee located a slow leak at a joint between a new pex pipe and the old valve located within the wall between the master bedroom and master bathroom; no leak occurred within any of the polybutylene piping attached to the valve. The wood flooring within the master bedroom, as well as some drywall, suffered water damage. Lohr's employee capped the line and turned off the water to prevent further leaking (R. p. 229, lines 5-14). Brett Doran, owner of Lohr's, visited the house one or two days later and recommended that Respondent contact a water removal company to first dry the water (R. p. 230, lines 12-20), and then began to obtain estimates for repair of the floor and drywall (R. p. 234, lines 9-23). However, within a week, the Respondent refused entry to her home by any person or entity on behalf of Lohr, and further refused to respond to telephone calls and messages (R. p. 245, lines 20-25; R. p. 246, lines 1-3; R. p. 315, lines 16-17; R. p. 321, lines 4-16).

The Respondent claimed that, as a result of the leak, mold formed within the residence. The Respondent moved out of her home by December 17, 2011, and took no steps to perform any repairs to the damage or to otherwise abate any alleged mold within her home (R. p. 322, lines 1-16). As of the date of the trial of this matter, September 1-3, 2015, the Respondent had not performed any repairs to the residence (R. p. 334, lines 8-11; R. p. 335, lines 15-25; R. p. 336, lines 1-6).

In addition to alleged property damages to the master bedroom, the Respondent also claimed personal injuries as a result of alleged mold exposure. Specifically, Respondent claimed that as a result of alleged mold exposure, she suffered a severe reaction in the form of a rash covering her entire body (R. p. 261, line 25; R. p. 262, lines 1-2). She further claimed that this rash appeared shortly after she handled portions of the wood floor that she removed (R. p. 257, lines 14-17). However, Respondent had a long history of psoriasis (R. p. 262, line 25; R. p. 263,

lines 1-20), including diagnoses of guttate psoriasis approximately one week before discovery of the leak and again in December of 2011 (R. p. 308, lines 2-9; R. p. 323, lines 21-25; R. p. 324, lines 1-16; R. p. 325, lines 2-14). Finally, Respondent claimed that a hospital stay beginning January 4, 2012 and lasting through January 6, 2012 was the result of alleged mold exposure (R. p. 336, lines 12-25; R. p. 337, lines 1-7; R. p. 341, lines 9-21).

Medical testimony was offered by both the Respondent's own treating physician, Dr. Phillip Cusumano, and Lohr's expert physician, Dr. David Amrol (associate professor of clinical internal medicine and allergy and immunology division director for the University of South Carolina School of Medicine). Dr. Amrol testified that mold exposure does not cause or exacerbate psoriasis (R. p. 465, lines 23-25; R. p. 466, lines 1-4; R. p. 475 lines 8-20), and Respondent acknowledged as much (R. p. 262, lines 6-13); he also testified that he saw no evidence in Respondent's medical records that she was allergic to mold (R. p. 483, line 25; R. p. 484, lines 1-4). Dr. Cusumano and Dr. Amrol both testified that strep bacteria can cause a psoriasis flare (R. p. 390, lines 19-25; R. p. 391, lines 1-23; R. p. 392, lines 20-24; R. p. 469, lines 16-25; R. p. 470, lines 1-14). According to Dr. Cusumano and Dr. Amrol, it was likely that the Respondent's skin eruption was the result of strep bacteria (R. p. 474, lines 11-25; R. p. 475, lines 1-7). Bacteria, not fungus, respond to antibiotics (R. p. 394, lines 21-25; R. p. 395, lines 1-17). By the beginning of February 2012, the rash was about 99% improved (R. p. 394, lines 10-14).

At the trial of this case, in addition to her own testimony, Respondent presented via video recording the testimony of Dr. Alan Lieberman, who provided medical testimony regarding the Respondent's alleged medical condition. For reasons unknown, the testimony of Dr. Lieberman was not included in the transcript. Therefore, reference will be made to Dr. Lieberman's

deposition transcript.¹ Respondent was referred to Dr. Lieberman by her attorney (R. p. 635, lines 10-12). Respondent also presented live testimony of Dr. Ernest Chiodo, a medical doctor who had not treated Respondent or visited her home but had allegedly reviewed her medical records (R. p. 122, lines 14-25). Respondent also presented the testimony of Mike Gibson regarding alleged repairs to the home, and testimony of James Doller and Richard Guffey who were fact witnesses.

Respondent also called Mr. Doran in her case in chief. He testified that he is a master plumber (R. p. 218, lines 17-18), that he is the owner of Lohr Plumbing (R. p. 218, lines 15-16), and that Lohr Plumbing was retained by Ritchie to perform pipe replacement work (R. p. 219, lines 19-25). When this leak was discovered, Lohr was called, responded and located and stopped the source of the leak (R. p. 228, lines 2-9). Mr. Doran did not actually see the leak, but was told by his employee it was a slow drip (R. p. 229, lines 5-14). Mr. Doran personally visited the house within a few days after the leak had been stopped, and advised that he wanted to fix the leak for the Respondent (R. p. 231, lines 10-16). At no point was any testimony elicited from Mr. Doran or any other witness that indicated whether the leak was the result of a negligent act or omission on behalf of Lohr.

In addition to Dr. Cusumano and Dr. Amrol, Lohr presented the testimony of Ken Warren (an industrial hygienist who inspected the Respondent's residence), Leith Webb (a general contractor who prepared a proposed estimate for repairs), and Mr. Doran. Mr. Warren provided testimony regarding a possible scope of work for the repairs to the Respondent's home, while Mr. Webb testified about the cost to execute said work.

¹ Dr. Lieberman's expertise was challenged by Lohr. Ultimately, Dr. Lieberman was qualified only in the field of pediatrics. The jury did not hear any testimony from Dr. Lieberman regarding his qualification or practice in environmental medicine. See R. pp. 60-63.

At the conclusion of the Respondent's case in chief, the Respondent and Lohr each moved for directed verdict upon the causes of action for negligence and negligent misrepresentation (R. pp. 352-367). Both motions were denied as the trial court determined that a scintilla of evidence existed to prevent his granting the same (R. pp. 366-367). At the close of Lohr's evidence, both parties again renewed their respective motions for directed verdict, and both were again denied as being questions for the jury to decide (R. pp. 487-489).

After closing and charging the jury, the jury was provided a verdict form that read as follows:

"I. Negligence

(1) Did the Plaintiff prove by a preponderance of the evidence that defendant, Lohr Plumbing, Inc., was negligent and that the negligence was one of the proximate causes of the alleged injury?

_____ Yes

_____ No

(2) If yes, determine actual damages.

\$ _____ dollars (numerical)

\$ _____ dollars (cursive)

II. Negligent Misrepresentation

(1) Did the Respondent prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant, Lohr Plumbing, Inc., uttered a negligent misrepresentation and that the negligent misrepresentation was one of the proximate causes of the injury?

(2) If yes, determine actual damages.

\$ _____ dollars (numerical)

\$ _____ dollars (cursive)" (R. pp. 730-731)

Respondent did not object to this verdict form. As indicated, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Lohr on each cause of action. After the jury was dismissed, Respondent moved for

judgment notwithstanding the verdict, stating that she believed the question for the jury was not whether Lohr had proximately caused injuries, but rather how much would the jury award for such damages (R. p. 577, lines 20-25; R. pp. 578-584), and further reasserting the grounds upon which she based her motion for directed verdict (that she believed she had established a duty on behalf of Lohr to Respondent, a breach of that duty, and that said breach proximately caused her damages) (R. p. 580, lines 13-16). The trial court, however, indicated that proximate cause was left to the jury to decide (R. p. 580, lines 17-23).

The trial court permitted Respondent to file a written motion for new trial, and invited the Respondent to include argument regarding whether a new trial could be granted pursuant to the thirteenth juror doctrine. Respondent's motion again relied upon the same grounds upon which she moved for directed verdict (R. pp. 26-30). Lohr, on the other hand, argued that ample evidence existed to support the jury's verdict, that Respondent had not carried her burden of proof but rather proved—if anything—something less than negligence and was instead making an argument based upon negligence per se, breach of warranty, or even *res ipsa loquiter*, the former two of which were not plead nor charged and the latter of which is not recognized in South Carolina (R. pp. 31-37). Lohr further argued that the verdict, as rendered by the jury, was clear and unambiguous but, due to the general nature of the verdict form, no one could tell whether the jury determined the Respondent had not proven negligence or that the jury had determined that there were no damages proximately caused by negligence of Lohr. Despite these arguments, the trial court granted Respondent's motion for new trial based upon the thirteenth juror doctrine, and this appeal followed.

Lohr will be arguing against precedent within its brief and, if this Court determines oral argument would be beneficial, will move to argue against precedent at that time.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The thirteenth juror doctrine in South Carolina is a vehicle by which a trial judge may grant a new trial if he finds “the evidence does not justify the verdict.” *Folkens v. Hunt*, 300 S.C. 251, 387 S.E.2d 265 (1990). “A trial judge’s order granting or denying a new trial upon the facts will not be disturbed unless his decision is wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusion reached was controlled by an error of law.” *Folkens v. Hunt*, 300 S.C. 251, 387 S.E.2d 265 (1990), citing *South Carolina State Highway Department v. Clarkson*, 267 S.C. 121, 226 S.E.2d 696 (1976). “In considering a motion for a new trial, the trial judge must look to see if evidence justifies the jury verdict.” *Lane v. Gilbert Constr. Co.*, 383 S.C. 590, 681 S.E.2d 879 (2009), citing *Norton v. Norfolk Southern Railway Co.*, 350 S.C. 473, 567 S.E.2d 851 (2002). “When an order granting new trial is before this Court, our review is limited to the consideration of whether evidence exists to support the trial court’s order.” *South Carolina Department of Highways and Public Transportation v. Mooneyham*, 275 S.C. 205, 269 S.E.2d 329 (1980).

“When considering directed verdict and JNOV motions, neither the trial court nor the appellate court has authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or evidence.” *Welch v. Epstein*, 342 S.C. 279, 536 S.E.2d 408 (Ct. App. 2000), citing *Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife and Marine Resources Dep’t*, 328 S.C. 24, 491 S.E.2d 571 (1997). “A motion for JNOV may be granted only if no reasonable jury could have reached the challenged verdict.” *Welch*, citing *Crossley v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 307 S.C. 354, 415 S.E.2d 393 (1992). In ruling on a motion for directed verdict or JNOV, a trial court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Welch*, citing *Steinke v. South Carolina Dep’t of Labor, Licensing and Regulation*, 336 S.C. 373, 520 S.E.2d

142 (1999), further citations omitted. “The trial court must deny the motions when the evidence yields more than one inference or its inference is in doubt.” *Welch*, citing *Steinke, supra*.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in granting a new trial pursuant to the thirteenth juror doctrine

The trial court’s order indicated that the new trial was granted pursuant to the thirteenth juror doctrine, and recognized that, in determining whether to grant the new trial, it is only to “concern itself with whether the evidence justifies the verdict and cannot second guess the jury’s actions or motives for its verdict.” (R. pp. 1-2). It is Lohr’s position that, in exercising its role as thirteenth juror, the trial court here abused its discretion in granting a new trial pursuant to the thirteenth juror doctrine because it appears it did not determine whether the evidence presented justified the jury’s verdict but did consider the jury’s motives for its verdict. It is Lohr’s further position that the trial court’s order is wholly unsupported by the evidence and, as such, the jury’s verdict in favor of Lohr must be reinstated.

“Courts must sustain verdicts when a logical reason for reconciling them can be found.” *Vinson v. Jackson*, 317 S.C. 166, 452 S.E.2d 16 (Ct. App. 1994), citing *Rhodes v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc.*, 249 S.C. 526, 155 S.E.2d 308 (1967), further citations omitted; see also *Lorick & Lowrance v. Julius H. Walker & Co.*, 153 S.C. 309; 150 S.E. 789 (1929). “In considering a motion for a new trial, the trial judge must look to see if the evidence justifies the jury verdict.” *Lane v. Gilbert Constr. Co.*, 383 S.C. 590, 681 S.E.2d 879 (2009), citing *Norton v. Norfolk Southern Railway Co.*, 350 S.C. 473, 567 S.E.2d 851 (2002). A review of the record clearly reveals ample evidence exists to support the jury’s verdict.

As indicated above, a trial court must look to see if the evidence justifies the jury verdict. In doing so, it should consider the role of judge and jury. “Judging the credibility of the

testimony of witnesses is a function of the jury, not the court, as is the weight to be given to such testimony.” *Brown v. Stewart*, 348 S.C. 33, 557 S.E.2d 676 (Ct.App. 2001). “As a general rule, the jury is free to accept or reject in whole or in part the testimony of any witness, including an expert witness.” *Sauers v. Poulin Brothers Homes, Inc.*, 328 S.C. 601 at 605, 493 S.E.2d 503 at 505 (Ct.App. 1997). Thus, prior to the trial court granting the Respondent’s motion for new trial pursuant to the thirteenth juror doctrine, the trial court should have determined whether the evidence could have sustained the jury’s verdict since the jury is the finder of fact.

Lohr’s position is that the Respondent did not meet her burden of proof regarding either of her causes of action, and therefore the jury’s verdict was justified. Thus, the trial court’s decision to grant a new trial pursuant to the thirteenth juror doctrine is wholly unsupported by the evidence. Further, Lohr asserts that the testimony upon which both Respondent and the trial court rely is not sufficient to establish a claim for negligence or negligent misrepresentation; rather, it appears the trial court relied upon testimony as proof of a cause of action not plead by the Respondent or charged to the jury in making its decision to grant a new trial pursuant to the thirteenth juror doctrine. In doing so, the trial court committed legal error in granting a new trial, and the order of the trial court should be reversed.

1. Negligence

In order to prove a cause of action for negligence, a plaintiff must prove the defendant owed a duty to the plaintiff, the defendant breached that duty through a negligent act or omission, and that the breach proximately caused the plaintiff damages. “To show proximate cause, a plaintiff must show both causation in fact and legal cause.” *Roddey v. Wal-Mart Stores East*, 415 S.C. 580, 784 S.E.2d 670 (2016). “If there is anything tending to create distrust in his [or her] truthfulness, the question must be left to the jury.” *Sauers*, 328 S.C. 601 at 606, 493

S.E.2d 503 at 505 (Ct.App. 1997), citing *Black v. Hodge*, 306 S.C. 196, 410 S.E.2d 595 (Ct.App. 1991). Lohr maintains that the Respondent failed in meeting her burden of proof of each of the elements of negligence, primarily because both Respondent and at least one of her experts gave the jury ample reasons to ‘create distrust in [their] truthfulness.’ Therefore, they were under no obligation to find in the Respondent’s favor. Thus, in weighing the evidence presented to the jury, the trial court should have determined that the jury’s verdict was supported by the testimony and evidence, and therefore denied the motion for new trial. Additionally, the trial court’s decision to grant the new trial is not supported by this testimony, and the verdict for Lohr should be reinstated.

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