RECEIVED

DEC 02 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2012-CP-07-4139  
APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002618

Patricia Doller,

Respondent,

v.

Lohr Plumbing, Inc.

Appellants.

---

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Brian P. Robinson S.C. Bar No. 8814  
Bruner, Powell, Wall & Mullins, LLC  
Post Office Box 61110  
Columbia, South Carolina 29260  
(803) 252-7693  
Attorney for Respondent

A. Parker Barnes, Jr. S.C. Bar No. 523  
A. Parker Barnes, Jr. P.A.  
P.O. Drawer 1729  
Beaufort, South Carolina 29901  
(84.) 522-2600

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

## ARGUMENTS

### 1. THERE IS EVIDENCE THAT SUPPORTS THE GRANTING OF A NEW TRIAL.

Negligence requires that the defendant owes the plaintiff a duty, that the defendant breached that duty, that the plaintiff was damaged, and that the defendant's breach was the proximate cause of the plaintiff's damages. (Graham v. Town of Latta, -- S.C. --, 789 S.E.2d 71 (Ct. App. 2016).). In the instant case, Mr. Doran, the president of Lohr, admitted that Lohr held itself out as an expert in plumbing, and that Lohr should install the piping in such a manner that it did not leak. He admitted that Lohr failed to install the piping so that it did not leak, and he admitted that Lohr was responsible for and should pay to fix the leak and the resulting damage.

“Where a person holds himself out as specially qualified to perform work of a particular character, there is an implied warranty that the work which he undertakes shall be of proper workmanship and reasonable fitness for its intended use.” (Hill v. Polar Pantries, 219 S.C. 263, 64 S.E.2d 885 (1951)). Lohr admitted that it should install the pipe so that it did not leak. Lohr knew the repairs it was making were to make the house fit for sale. Therefore, Lohr owed a duty to Doller to install the pipe in such a manner that it did not leak.

Lohr confessed that it breached its duty. Lohr also confessed that the breach was the proximate cause of the physical damage to the property. There is a question of fact as to whether Lohr's breach caused Doller's personal injury, but that is not relevant to this analysis. Had the jury decided that Lohr was negligent, there is no way to determine what damages the jury may have awarded.

Having confessed that it had a duty, that it breached the duty, and that the breach caused damages to Doller, and having introduced its own estimate of what those damages were, Lohr cannot be heard to complain that the Court abused its discretion when it awarded a new trial.

2. THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION.

Discussing the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine in Vinson v. Hartley, 324 S.C. 389, 477 S.E.2d 715 (Ct.App. 1996), the Court of Appeals held, quoting South Carolina Department of Highways & Public Transportation v. Mooneyham, 275 S.C. 205, 269 S.E.2d 329 (1980), that “[w]hen an order granting a new trial is before this Court, our review is limited to the consideration of whether evidence exists to support the trial court's order.” *Accord Lane v. Gilbert Constr. Co.*, 383 S.C. 590, 681 S.E.2d 879 (2009). Accordingly, an abuse of discretion can only occur if there is no evidence to support the trial Court; if there is any evidence to support the trial Court’s granting a new trial, the reviewing court must uphold that ruling.

In the instant case, Lohr admitted that it had a duty, breached that duty, and that the breach was the proximate cause of damage suffered by Doller. Admissions by the defendant are compelling evidence. Accordingly, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion.

3. THE APPEALS COURT CANNOT REVERSE THE GRANTING OF A NEW TRIAL UNDER THE THIRTEENTH JUROR DOCTRINE IF THERE IS NO ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

A. The standard is that, if there is any evidence to support the trial court, then the grant of a new trial must be upheld.

The Vinson court also held that “[a] trial [court]’s order granting or denying a new trial [under the thirteenth juror doctrine] will not be disturbed unless [its] decision is wholly unsupported by the evidence, or the conclusion reached was controlled by an error of law.” Id. Here, there is no error of law. There is evidence that Lohr conceded it owed Doller a duty, that it breached its duty, and that Doller suffered damages as a proximate cause of the breach. Lohr cannot reasonably argue that it secured an estimate to fix the water damage but the water damage was not caused by the leak. Indeed, it did not so argue. Because there is evidence supporting the grant of a new trial under the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine, the grant must be upheld.

B. The standard argued by Lohr is the wrong standard.

Lohr argues that this court should be looking at whether there is evidence to support the jury’s verdict. That argument is fatally flawed.

Lohr’s argument hinges on cases discussing the granting of a new trial absolute or a new trial nisi. Neither of those grants are controlled by the standard controlling grants of a new trial under the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine. The grant of a new trial absolute is governed by whether there is any evidence to support the jury’s verdict. “When ruling on motions for directed verdict and JNOV, the trial court and this [c]ourt must view the evidence and the inferences reasonably drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motions.” Pike v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp., 332 S.C. 605, 610, 506 S.E.2d 516, 518 (Ct.App. 1998) *aff’d as modified*, 343 S.C. 224, 540 S.E.2d 87 (2000).

The grant of a new trial nisi is governed by whether the verdict is so large or so small as to shock the court’s conscience. “The trial judge must grant a new trial absolute if the amount of the verdict is grossly inadequate or excessive so as to shock the

conscience of the court and clearly indicates the figure reached was the result of passion, caprice, prejudice, partiality, corruption or some other improper motives." Vinson v. Hartley, 324 S.C. 389, 404, 477 S.E.2d 715, 723.

In contrast, the exercise of the court's discretion under the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine is governed by the any evidence standard with respect to the court's decision, not the jury's decision.

Upon review, a trial judge's order granting or denying a new trial will be upheld unless the order is wholly unsupported by the evidence, or the conclusion reached was controlled by an error of law. . . This Court's review is limited to consideration of whether evidence exists to support the trial court's order. As long as there is conflicting evidence, this Court has held the trial judge's grant of a new trial will not be disturbed. Lane v. Gilbert Constr. Co., 383 S.C. 590 597 - 98, 681 S.E.2d 879, 883 (2009). Lohr has it backwards.

Lohr also argues that the plaintiff failed to prove her case. Again, Lohr is arguing the wrong standard. Surely, as the court queried and as Lohr admitted, no one is contesting Lohr's credibility. Having itself conceded all the elements of negligence, Lohr's argument that the plaintiff's testimony was somehow not credible is simply not relevant. Lohr conceded all the elements of negligence. After that, the only question remaining should have been: how much were the damages.

#### 4. LOHR WAS NOT ENTITLED TO A DIRECTED VERDICT.

Lohr argues that it was entitled to a directed verdict on both the negligence and negligent misrepresentation claims. The standard for directed verdict is that "A motion for directed verdict goes to the entire case and may be granted only when the evidence raises no issue for the jury as to liability." Lane.

The negligence claim is discussed above. Despite Lohr's assertions, there is ample evidence that Lohr was negligent. Accordingly, a direct verdict for Lohr does not lie.

The elements of a negligent misrepresentation are that (1) the defendant made a false representation to the plaintiff; (2) the defendant had a pecuniary interest in making the statement; (3) the defendant owed a duty of care to see that he communicated truthful information to the plaintiff; (4) the defendant breached that duty by failing to exercise due care; (5) the plaintiff justifiably relied on the representation; and (6) the plaintiff suffered a pecuniary loss as a direct and proximate result of his reliance on the defendant's representation. Carolina Chloride, Inc. v. Richland County, 394 S.C. 154, 714 S.E.2d 869 (2011).

(1) Lohr admitted that it did not remove all the polybutylene pipe from the house. (R. p. 228, l. 10-25), despite the assertion that all the pipe was removed in Plaintiff's Exhibit 1. While Lohr may not have known that Doller was the purchaser, it knew the removal and the letter were required for someone to purchase the house. It follows that Lohr's false representation was made to the purchaser, in this case, Doller.

(2) Lohr had a pecuniary interest in writing the letter that was Plaintiff's Exhibit 1 because Lohr does "hundreds" of these piping changes (R. p. 223, l. 20-22) and Lohr writes them "[j]ust to please the customer" (R. p. 224, l. 11-23).

(3) Lohr knew the polybutylene removal was performed so the house could close, so it had a duty of care, if it spoke at all, to speak the truth. Freightliner, L.L.C. v. Whatley Contract Carriers, L.L.C., 932 So. 2d 883, 895 (Ala. 2005); Mackenzie v. Miller Brewing Co., 608 N.W.2d 331, 368 (Wis. Ct. App. 2000); Marketing West, Inc. v. Sanyo

Fisher (USA) Corp., 7 Cal. Rptr. 2d 859, (Cal. App. 2d Dist. 1992); State ex rel. Nebraska State Bar Ass'n v. Douglas, 416 N.W.2d 515, 530 (Neb. 1987); Jordan v. Flynt, 240 S.E.2d 858, 863 (Ga. 1977); Russ v. Brown, 529 P.2d 765, 766 (Idaho 1974); Swedeen v. Swedeen, 134 N.W.2d 871, 878 (Minn. 1965); Great Plains Christian Radio, Inc. v. Cent. Tower, Inc., 399 F. Supp. 2d 1185, 1196 (Dist. KS 2005); Zimpel v. Trawick, 679 F. Supp. 1502, 1509 (W.D. Ark. 1988); Nader v. Allegheny Airlines, Inc., 445 F. Supp. 168, 175 (D.D.C. 1978); First Virginia Bankshares v. Benson, 559 F.2d 1307, 1313 (5th Cir. 1977), cert. denied, 435 U.S. 952 (1978).

(4) Lohr did not exercise due care because it knew the letter was not truthful.

(5) Doller was justified in relying upon the letter to proceed with the closing because Lohr did the work. The work was concealed in the wall (see Plaintiff Exhibit 1) so there was no way for Doller to independently check.

(6) Doller testified that she would not have closed had she known the polybutylene pipe was still in the house. (R. p. 251, l. 19-24.) She had to abandon the house because of the mold. (R. p. 190, l. 18-p. 191, l. 9; R. p. 268, l. 10-13.) She suffered loss a monetary loss because she has had to continue to pay the mortgage while not using the house. (R. p. 286, l. 17-42).

Because Doller presented evidence that Lohr had negligently misrepresented the removal of all the polybutylene, Lohr's motion for a directed verdict was correctly denied. Because Lohr admitted facts establishing the elements of negligence, Lohr's motion for a directed verdict was correctly denied.

5. THE THIRTEENTH JUROR DOCTRINE SHOULD NOT BE ABOLISHED OR OTHERWISE MODIFIED.

A. Why there should be a Thirteenth Juror Doctrine.

An analysis of the efficacy of the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine requires a review of first principles. It is important that the judicial system be seen to dispense “justice” and to operate in such a manner as to provide fundamental fairness. Jeremy M. Miller, *The Science of Law: The Maturing of Jurisprudence into Fundamental Principles of Fairness*, 13 Western State University Law Review No 2, 367, 379 (1986); see, e.g., Hipp v. S.C. DMV, 381 S.C. 323, 673 S.E.2d 416 (2009); Coggeshall v. Reprod. Endocrine Assocs., 376 S.C. 12, 655 S.E.2d 476 (2007).

Because juries are composed of imperfect people, fundamental fairness requires that there be some method to correct manifest errors a jury may make. In South Carolina, there are three methods available, depending upon the type and extent of the error. A judge can order judgment notwithstanding the verdict (judgment non obstante veredicto or JNOV), a new trial nisi, or a new trial under the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine, depending on the type of error to be corrected.

B. The types of judicial relief available in South Carolina.

When there is no evidence to support the jury’s verdict but damages are clear, logically, the verdict is ruled by passion or prejudice, or possibly by confusion. In that case, there is nothing for the court to do except grant a verdict notwithstanding the fact that the jury has reached a verdict, i.e., JNOV. When the jury verdict is either too generous or too parsimonious, usually the parties just have to live with the verdict. However, when the generosity or the parsimony is so out of balance with the evidence that the verdict shocks the trial judge’s conscience, he can order a new trial nisi, ruling that the plaintiff take either more or less, depending on the circumstances, or else be

subject to the vagaries of a new trial. When the evidence points to one verdict and the jury finds the opposite, the trial judge can “hang” the jury by operation of the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine, thereby ordering a new trial absolute.

The first two corrective measures speak to verdicts that are correctable by judgment. In both of those cases, the trial judge is empowered to order a verdict. In the first case (JNOV), the judge orders a verdict and that is the end of that trial, with a new one to follow. In the second case (new trial nisi), the trial judge gives the parties the option of agreeing with his determination of how much should be paid or subjecting themselves to a new trial. In the third case, when the jury reaches a determination that is contrary to the evidence in such a manner that the verdict is wrong but the extent of damages is a substantial question of fact, the first two methods do not provide an adequate remedy. In that case, a new trial is required. The Thirteenth Juror Doctrine addresses that third case.

C. The Lohr arguments are fundamentally flawed.

Lohr argues that (i) the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine should be abolished because there are other methods to correct the erroneous verdict, or (ii) that there should be some other standard governing the review of the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine. Lohr believes that (iii) the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine favors the person seeking damages.

(i) The Thirteenth Juror Doctrine should not be abolished.

As set forth above, the three different modes of correcting jury errors address three very different fact patterns. If the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine were abolished, there would be no method to correct the fact pattern it addresses. A trial judge faced with a verdict that is plainly wrong but where damages are not clear would either have to let the

verdict stand or arbitrarily fix the damages. To allow such a judicial result would put great stress on the trial judge, who would either have to countenance a manifestly unjust result or have to arbitrarily pick a number for damages. The law should not be unjust, nor should it be arbitrary.

(ii) The current standard is the proper standard.

The theory behind the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine is that the judge assumes the role of a thirteenth juror. Jurors never have to give reasons for their decision. Accordingly, if the Court is going to act as thirteenth juror, it would be anomalous in the extreme to require that juror to give reasons when the other 12 do not. Further, if the thirteenth juror does give reasons, then the reviewing court will need to try the case all over again. That is not the case with respect to JNOV or a new trial nisi, because the standard of review in those matters is the “any evidence supporting the jury” standard. The reviewing court need only look to see if there is any evidence to support the jury; if so, then the new trial or JNOV is overruled and the jury verdict reinstated. Likewise, the thirteenth juror is acting as a juror; it is the thirteenth juror’s vote that hangs the jury, so the reviewing court looks to see if there is any evidence supporting that decision. If so, that decision stands.

(iii) The Thirteenth Juror Doctrine does not favor plaintiffs.

Lohr admits that sometimes the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine favors the defendant. Lohr brief at page Lohr cites only 14 cases in which the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine was at issue. Of those 14 cases, two were overturned on appeal, and one favored the plaintiff. Research reveals that there are at least 28 Thirteenth Juror Doctrine cases in South Carolina, dating back to at least 1938.<sup>1</sup> Of those 28 cases, 7 were overturned for either

---

<sup>1</sup> Recognized in Worrell v. South Carolina Power Co., 186 S.C. 306, 195 S.E. 638 (1938);

abuse of discretion or errors of law, 1 was partially overturned, and 3 others favored the plaintiff. In short, 40% favored the defendant and 60% favored the plaintiff. This is hardly an overwhelming reason to abolish a remedy that prevents fundamental unfairness.

Moreover, in the thousands of cases which have been heard in the Circuit Courts of South Carolina since 1938, only 28 Thirteenth Juror Doctrine cases have been appealed. While there is no convenient way to determine how many verdicts have been

---

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